OA 1-4.93

FILED
SID J. WHITE
AUG 11 1992
CLERK, SURREME COURT:
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 79,542

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,
Petitioner/Appellant,

vs.

RAMON ALEN,
Respondent/Appellee.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A, BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CHARLES M. FAHLBUSCH Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 0191948 Department of Legal Affairs 4000 Hollywood Blvd., Suite 505-S Hollywood, FL 33021 (305) 985-4788

#

### PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The Petitioner, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, was the appellee in the court below and the prosecution in the Circuit Court. Respondent, RAMON ALEN, was the appellant in the District Court and the defendant in the trial court. The parties will be referred to, in this brief, as they stand before this court. The symbol "R" will be used, in this brief, to refer to the Record on Appeal before the District Court, and the symbol "T" designate the original transcript of will lower court proceedings. The symbol "ST1" will be used, in this brief, to identify the transcript of May 8, 1989 at 1:30 P.M. which was attached to the Appellant's Motion to Supplement Record on Appeal of June 25, 1990, in the Third District, and the symbol "ST2" will refer to the transcript of May 9, 1989 at 11:00 A.M. which was attached to the same motion. The symbol "App." will refer to the Appendix to the Brief of Petitioner Jurisdiction. All emphasis is supplied unless otherwise indicated.

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The Responden, was charged by I form tion, n March 16, 1989 with Robbery and Resisting Arrest Without Violence. The jury, after a jury trial, found the defendant guilty of the Robbery charge, but not guilty of resisting arrest. (R. 16-17). The defendant was sentenced to twenty (20) years imprisonment. (R. 21-23A).

During jury selection, prospective juror Aida **Seda** was questioned by the court as follows:

THE COURT: Thank you very much, ma'am.

Yes, ma'am,

MS. SEDA: Aida Seda. I live in Hialeah. I've lived here for 13 years.

I'm a purchasing controller. I am divorced. I have a 14 year old. I have never served on a jury before.

THE COURT: Have you ever been a victim of a crime?

MS. SEDA: Yes.

THE COURT: What was it, ma'am?

MS. SEDA: I had my house broken into and I had a car stolen.

THE COURT: Okay. Have you ever been accuse of a crime?

MS. SEDA: No, I have not.

THE COURT: Or anyone close to you?

MS: SEDA: No.

THE COURT: Thank you very much, ma'am.

(ST1, 11-12).

She was also queried by the State, as follows:

MR. McGEE: Ms. Seda, you live in Hialeah?

MS. SEDA: Yes.

MR. McGEE: **And** you're a purchasing controller where?

MS. SEDA: A women's apparel manufacturing company.

MR. McGEE: That is located in Hialeah, also?

MS. SEDA: Yes.

MR. McGEE: This crime occurred in Hialeah.

MS, SEDA: Uh-huh.

MR. McGEE: I don't -- I can't recall, I could be mistaken but I don't -- is there anybody else from the Hialeah area?

Is there anything about the fact that this crime actually occurred somewhere in, well, in the city of Hialeah and Hialeah is not that big but would that make you feel uncomfortable sitting in judgement of the defendant and listening to the **evidence** as you will hear it tomorrow?

MS. SEDA: No.

MR. McGEE: Thank you very much.

(ST1, 55-56).

The questioning of Deogracias Arjona by the court was conducted as follows:

THE COURT: Thank you, sir. Yes, ma'am.

MS. ARJONA: Deogracias Arjona, I live in South Miami for 21 years. I'm divorced.

I have five adult children, two are students, three live out of state. One -- two in New Jersey, one in Chicago. Some are housewives. One works for -- at an office; another one is a secretary.

And I have never served on a jury. This is my first time. What else?

THE COURT: Have you ever been a victim of a crime?

 $\ensuremath{\mathsf{MS}}$  . ARJONA: Never been a victim of a crime.

THE COURT: Or anybody close?

MS. ARJONA: None of my family.

THE COURT: Have you ever been accused of a crime?

MS. ARJONA: Never been accused of a crime.

THE COURT: Or anyone close to you?

 $\ensuremath{\,^{\text{MS}}}$  . ARJONA: Not anyone close to me.

(ST1, 19-20).

The State peremptorily challenged Ms. Seda, initially without objection. (ST1, 78). The following took place when Ms. Arjona was stricken:

 $\mbox{MR.}$   $\mbox{McGEE:}$  We will strike Ms. Arjona.

MR. GUTIERREZ: I would object to that strike.

I think she i Spanish and they have already stricken Aida Seda and there is only one, two, three Spanish people, four Spanish people on the whole panel and this is the second one that he's striken. [sic]

I'm asking at this time that the court conduct an inquiry.

THE COURT: Okay.

State, this is the second Spanish person that you struck and the Court would also note that you had accepted this particular person before. This is done on a back-strike.

MR. McGEE: Exactly.

THE COURT: What is the reasoning?

MR. SAUL: First, take notice that Aida Seda was sleeping throughout the entire proceeding, almost.

THE COURT: I didn't see anybody sleeping.

• MR. GUTIERREZ: Sleeping? She answered the questions.

MR. McGEE: It is **up** to you right now. Ms. Seda was very - her whole demeanor is one of disgust with this proceeding.

THE COURT: I did see that. I did see that,

MR. GUTIERREZ: That is still not a basis. Disgust with the proceeding is no basis, they have to have a legal basis.

MR. McGEE: The State has a right to have people who are concerned and interested in their community, that criteria as to -- well, I'll leave it up to the Court.

Ms. Arjona, Scott my colleague, we have talked about this; he just doesn't like her but there is not a real objective --

We would like to get  $\pm$  I'm going to share all of our work product for the purpose of this record,

I would -- I think I mentioned it a little while ago. At this point, he's used up all his strikes, I can get whoever I want.

I prefer Ms. Fernandez. She happens to be **Latin** and I'm going to **reach** Ms. Fernandez with my strikes.

Now, as far as Ms. Arjona is concerned, I'm not sure I can give an objective sense of why we -- she is divorced with five children and she has never been a juror before.

When you contrast that with Ms. Fernandez - this is an area of law, reasons given, which are valid or not valid and I can only say to the Court that it absolutely has nothing to do with Latin origin, ethnic origin,

I don't know who it was you mentioned, there was somebody else.

MR. GUTIERREZ: Aida.

MR. McGEE: You  $\operatorname{\mathbf{said}}$  there were only four Latins.

MR. GUTIERREZ: Boria, Aida Fernandez --

THE COURT: Seda is the one **from** Hialeah?

MR, GUTIERREZ: Right.

MR. McGEE: Aida is the one from Hialeah,

THE COURT: She was thoroughly not interested in the proceeding.

MR. GUTIERKEZ: Even though they have no interest, it is not a valid basis. If the Court will conduct their own inquiry, can you **be** impartial, will you follow the law.

THE COURT: We have already done the inquiry of her and this is peremptory challenges,

Since the state had made an indication that they really do want Ms. Fernandez, I don't see any discriminatory problems on the part of the state in terms of excluding that juror.

MR. GUTIERREZ: My basis is that they are discriminating because there were two Latin jurors that were already going to be stricken. What is that -- that there has to be a pattern of discrimination.

THE COURT: There is no pattern.

MR. GUTIERREZ: Aida said that --

THE COURT: She is not interested.

MR. GUTIERREZ: That is a peremptory challenge by the state. They have no reason except that she's not interested, no legal **reason**.

THE COURT: They explained it.

MR. GUTIERREZ: Deogracias Arjona, they have not given a legal reason or valid basis.

THE COURT: As far as I'm concerned, that is the first strike because the other one was clearly objectively done and that they said Ms. Seda is not interested and they have gone one step further and indicated that they want Ms, Fernandez so they don't have a pattern of excluding Hispanics off the jury.

They are trying to get the best Hispanics that they feel would be best suited for this case,

Your objection is noted and overruled. We already have conducted our inquiry and the Court is ruling that there is no discriminatory practice on the part af the state.

(ST1, 80-85).

The State did not reach Mrs. Fernandez, as a juror, although they struck Mr. White in order to reach her as an alternate (ST1, 87-89). The <code>()fense</code> objected, on the same grounds, once again, saying, "She is going to be the alternate, so we do not have a Spanish juror on our jury." (ST1, 87-88). The Court simply said, "We have a jury and an alternate" and the defense responded, "Please note our objection for the record." (ST1, 89).

The Petitianer reserves the right to set forth additional facts in the argument portion of this brief, as appropriate.

### ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Ι

WHETHER LATIN PERSONS DO NOT CONSTITUTE ONE DISTINCT, COGNIZABLE GROUP ENTITLED TO PROTECTION UNDER State v. Neil, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984)?

ΙI

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT REVERSIBLY ERR IN DETERMINING THAT THE STATE DID NOT PEREMPTORILY CHALLENGE A LATIN JUROR SOLELY DUE TO RACE?

### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Ι

This Court has **held** that "Latin American" is a term which encompasses people from too many different countries and cultural backgrounds and attitudes to constitute a single cognizable **class** for constitutional protection purposes. The district court chose to ignore this court's opinion, which is supported by other substantial authority, and relied instead on inferences drawn from dicta in a plurality opinion of the United States Supreme Court. It is respectfully submitted that the district court was required to abide by the opinion of this court in the matter, and that its failure to do so requires reversal.

ΙI

The trial court could properly find that the reasons given by the State for the challenge of the one juror concerned herein were race neutral, reasonable and supported by the record where they were based on characteristics not shared by any non-Latin juror, and where the State utilized a peremptory challenge in order to obtain a Spanish-surnamed alternate.

### **ARGUMENT**

Ι

LATIN PERSONS DO NOT CONSTITUTE ONE DISTINCT, COGNIZABLE GROUP ENTITLED TO PROTECTION UNDER State v. Neil, 547 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984).

This court, in <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984), specifically limited the impact of that case to discrimination due to race, as follows:

Although specifically dealing with blacks, both Wheeler and Soares speak generally af group bias based on racial, religious, ethnic, sexual or other grounds. Thompson, on the other hand, appears to be limited solely to race, specifically blacks. We choose to limit the impact of this case also and do so to peremptory challenges of distinctive racial groups solely an the basis of race. The applicability to other groups will be left open and will be determined as such cases arise.

Id. at 487.

While the district court recognized that this court **chose** to limit the impact of its holding solely to race (App. 3), it nevertheless chose to find that, ". . . Hispanics constitute a cognizable group within this community so as to entitle a defendant, pursuant to article I, section 16 of the Florida Constitution, to dispute the state's use of a peremptory challenge against a Hispanic juror when the challenge is alleged

to have been made solely on the basis of the juror's ethnicity.
... (App. 1-2, 5).

This court, after <u>State v. Neil</u>, 457 So.2d 481 (Fla. 1984) was decided, specifically dealt with whether or not Latin Americans were a cognizable group for constitutional purposes, and had the following to say:

Appellant, by his characterization of himself as a Latin American, has failed to prove that he belongs to an identifiable group. "The first step is to establish that the group is one that a recognizable, distinct singled out for different treatment the under laws written as OK applied." Id. The term "Latin American" encompasses people from too many different countries and different cultural backgrounds and attitudes to constitute a single cognizable class for equal protection analysis. Accord, United States v. Rodriguez,  $588 ext{ } F.2d$  1003 (5th Cir. 1979). See also United States v. Duran de F.Supp.1326(S.DFla.Amesquita, 582 1984) (holding that "hispanics" do not constitute a recognizable class). (emphasis added).

<u>Valle v. State</u>, 474 So.2d 796, 800 (Fla. 1985)

The district court used "Spanish," "Latin" and "Hispanic" without distinguishing them. Alen v. State, 596 So.2d 1083, 1084 n.1 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992). However, the term "Latin" is used in this brief because it is one of the terms used by the defense in the trial court (ST1, 84)("Hispanic," as used by the district court, was not) and is the broader word.

It is respectfully submitted that it was the district court that erred in failing to follow the opinion of this court on the issue. There are substantial indications that this court was correct.

Generally, in order to be considered a cognizable group for Fifth and Sixth Amendment purposes, a group must be shown to possess three (3) characteristics. It must be sufficiently numerous within the community to be considered a distinct class, it must be perceived as distinct by the community at large and it must possess a cohesiveness of attitudes or ideas which may not be adequately represented by other segments of society. See Duren v. Missouri, 439 U.S. 357, 363-364, 99 S.Ct. 358, 58 L.Ed.2d 579 (1979); United States v. Potter, 552 F.2d 901, 904 (9th Cir. 1977).

There is certainly no question that, if Hispanics are the class concerned, they are sufficiently numerous where, according to the 1990 Census data, the population of Dade County was 49.2 percent Hispanic. Alen v. State, 596 So.2d 1083, 1085 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992). If the concerned group was the Spanish, however, which was the original and primary objection of the Respondent (ST1, 80-84), then there would be some doubt if the movant had met his original burden in this regard. See, Fox v. State, 779 P.2d 562, 566 (Okla. 1989); cert. denied, \_\_\_U.S.\_\_\_, 110 S.Ct. 1538, 108 L.Ed.2d 777 (1990)(finding that Asians were not a

distinct class where they constituted only 0.99% of the population).

Hispanics, or even Latins, almost certainly also meet the second characteristic required **for** cogniaability, that the group is perceived as distinct by the community at large. <u>United States v. Abell</u>, 552 F.Supp. 316, 322 (D.Maine 1982); <u>See also</u>, <u>United States v. Potter</u>, 552 F.2d 901, 905 (9th Cir. 1977). This is the subject of some significant discussion in the district court opinion. <u>Alen</u> at 1085. However, as Judge Gersten points out in his concurring opinion, perception is not always reality. Id. at 1091.

However, in order to be considered cognizable, the group must not only be perceived as distinct by the community at large, but must also be perceived as distinct by itself:

- , , . To establish cognizability, it is necessary to prove the following:
- (1) the presence of some quality or attribute which 'defines and limits' the group; (2) a cohesiveness of 'attitudes or ideas or experience' which distinguishes the group from the general social milieu: and (3) a 'community of interest' which may not be represented by other segments of society. (emphasis added).

United States v. Test, 550 F.2d 577, 591
(10th Cir. 1976); Waller v. Butkovich,
593 F.Supp. 942, 949 (M.D.N.C. 1984);
State Ex Rel. Stratton v. Serna, 780
P.2d 1148, 1151 (N.M. 1989).

Similarly, ". • the group must be internally cohesive, i.e., there must be a common thread or similarity of attitudes binding all members of the group. Willis I, 720 F.2d at 1216; Potter, 552 F.2d at 904. Finally, these attitudes must not be shared by the remainder of the community, such that the interests of the cognizable group will not be represented if it is excluded from jury service. . . . " (emphasis added) Willis V. Kemp, 838 F.2d 1510, 1516 (11th Cir. 1988). Thus, it is understandable why the United States Fifth Circuit would find that, "there is simply no evidence upon which this Court could base a finding that persons of such diverse national origins as Cubans, Mexicans and Puerto Ricans possess such similar interests that they constitute a cognizable group. . . . " United States v. Rodriquez, 588 F.2d 1003, 1007 (5th Cir. 1979); See also, United States v. Duran de Amesquita, 582 F.Supp. 1326, 1328 (S.D.Fla. 1984).

Thus, it is understandable why Italian-Americans, Young adults, Irish-Americans, attorneys, teachers, clergymen, physicians, dentists and nurses have not been considered cognizable groups for constitutional protection purposes. See, Murchu v. United States, 926 F.2d 50 (1st Cir. 1991); United States v. Anguilo, 847 F.2d 956 (1st Cir. 1988); cert. denied, 488 U.S. 852, 109 S.Ct. 138, 102 L.Ed.2d 110 (1988); United States v. Di Pasquale, 864 F.2d 271 (3d Cir. 1988); cert. denied,

Pronter, 772 F.2d 982 (1st Cir. 1985); Sweet v. United States, 449
A.2d 315 (D.C.Ct. App. 1982). It is equally understandable why
men, women, Jewish persons, American Indians, Mexican-Americans,
white persons and Italian-Americans (same ethnic group, different
district) have been considered to be distinct, cognizable groups
for such purposes. See, United States v. De Gross, 960 F.2d 1433
(9th Cir. 1992); United States v. Gelb, 881 F.2d 1155 (2d Cir.
1989); United States v. Iron Moccasin, 878 F.2d 226 (8th Cir.
1989); United States v. Romero-Reyna, 867 F.2d 834 (5th Cir.
1989); Government of Virgin Islands v. Forte, 865 F.2d 59 (3d
Cir. 1989); United States v. Biaggi, 673 F.Supp. 96 (E.D.N.Y.
1987); aff'd, 853 F.2d 89 (2d Cir. 1988).

However, if the word "Latin" is used to describe the group concerned, (a perfectly acceptable word to describe it, according to the district court) as Judge Gersten pointed out, we would be lumping together people with such diverse cultures and attitudes as Spanish-Americans, Franco-Americans, Portugese-Americans, Italian-Americans and Romanian-Americans. See, Alen at 1094. While one or more of these groups might, by itself, be considered "cognizable," "cognizable groups cannot be added together so as to make a separate "cognizable group" for purposes of determining a proper representation in the venire. United States v. Underwood, 617 F.Supp. 713, 718-719 (N.D.Ala. 1985).

As the court points out in that case, to hold otherwise could

lead to such absurd results as finding that the combined "cognizable group" of black people, females, the poor, the elderly and Catholics were unconstitutionally over represented or underrepresented. Id. at 718

However, there is, certainly, authority in support of the opinion of the district court. The district court, itself, relies primarily on <a href="Hernandez v. New York">Hernandez v. New York</a>, \_\_\_U.S.\_\_\_, 111 S.Ct. 1859, 114 L.Ed.2d 395 (1991), summarizing that case by stating, ". . . The Court held that under the Equal Protection Clause, Hispanics cannot be peremptorily challenged on the basis of their race or ethnicity." <a href="Alen at 1085">Alen at 1085</a>. This appears to be a somewhat oversimplified view of the <a href="Hernandez">Hernandez</a> case, however. It is true that, in the plurality opinion (in which four justices join), Justice Kennedy begins as follows:

Petitioner Dionisio Hernandez asks us to review the New York state courts' rejection of his claim that the prosecutor in his criminal exercised peremptory challenges exclude Latinos from the jury by reason their ethnicity. If true, prosecutor's discriminatory of use peremptory strikes would violate the Equal Protection Clause as interpreted by our decision in Batson v. Kentucky, 476

It should be noted that neither <code>side</code>, in <code>Hernandez</code>, argued that Latinos were not a cognizable group entitled to protection under the Fifth Amendment. New York simply argued, successfully, that their exercise of peremptory challenges was validly based on reasons other than the fact that the challenged persons were Latino.

U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986). • • •

Id. at 111 S,Ct. 1864.

However, subsequently, in that opinion, it appears that the court is dodging the "Latino/Hispanic" issue:

In holding that a race-neutral reason for a peremptory challenge means a reason other than race, we do not resolve the more difficult question of the breadth with which the concept of should be defined for protection purposes. We would face a quite different case if the prosecutor had justified his peremptory challenges with the explanation that he did not want Spanish-speaking jurors. It may well be, for certain ethnic groups and in some communities, that proficiency in a particular language, like skin color, should be treated as a surrogate for race under an equal protection analysis. Cf. Yu Cong Eng v. Trinidad, 271 U.S. 500. 46 S.Ct. 619, 70 L.Ed. 1059 (1926) (law prohibiting keeping business records in other than specified languages violated equal protection rights of Chinese businessmen).

Id. at 1872-1873.

There is some doubt, of caurse, on the precedential value of an opinion in which only four members join. See, Greene v. Massey, 384 So.2d 24 (Fla. 1980).

 of Judge Gersten in <u>Alen</u> points out, "Hispanic" encompasses all of the human races and is not a race in itself. <u>Id</u>, at 1092.

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