INTRODUCTION

The respondent, RAMON ALEN, was the appellant in the District Court and the defendant in the trial court. The Petitioner, the State of Florida, was the appellee in the court below and the prosecution in the Circuit Court. In this brief, the parties will be referred to as they stood in the lower court. The symbols "R." and "T." will be used to refer to portions of the record on appeal and transcripts of the lower court proceedings, respectively. The symbol "App" will be used to denote the appendix. All emphasis is supplied unless the contrary is indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Respondent accepts the state's statement of the case and facts.

ISSUE FOR REVIEW

THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY RULED THAT IT WAS ERROR FOR THE PROSECUTION TO DISCRIMINATE AGAINST HISPANICSINJURY SELECTION.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The unanimous en *banc* decision of the Third District **Court** of Appeal which held that Neil should be extended to prohibit ethnic discrimination and **that** Hispanics *are* **a** cognizable ethnic group is consistent with this Court's desire to eliminate discrimination in **the** judiciary and therefore, **this** Court should join hands with numerous other state and federal **courts** which have already held **that** it is improper to exclude Hispanics **frcm** jury service based upon their ethnic background.

The Third District Court of Appeal **also correctly** concluded that respondent **was** entitle to **a new trial** since the **state** failed to give **an** ethnic neutral reason for excluding Juror Arjona. Therefore, this Court should affirm the unanimous opinion of the Third District **Court** of **Appeal**.

ARGUMENT

THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY RULED THAT IT WAS ERROR FOR THE PROSECUTION TO DISCRIMINATEAGAINSTHISPANICSINJURY SELECTION.

Introduction

During jury selection, the prosecutor used two peremptory challenges to exclude Hispanic jurors with the result that no Hispanics served on the jury. (T. **80**). Defendant requested that the state be required to explain why it excluded the two Hispanics from serving on the jury. (T. 81). The trial court concluded that there was a substantial likelihood of discrimination and required the state to explain its reasons for excluding the two Hispanic jurors. (T. 81). The state's reasons as to the first juror, Seda, is unsupported by the record; as to the second juror, Arjona, the state acknowledged the absence of any reason. Nevertheless, the trial court overruled defendant's objection and sanctioned the state's exclusion of the two Hispanic jurors. (T. 85).¹

The Third District **Court** of Appeal in **a** unanimous en banc decision (two judges filed concurring opinion) ruled that Hispanics **are a** cognizable class and that *Neil*, should be extended to prohibit ethnic discrimination. The court also concluded that the state failed to give **a** valid reason for excusing juror Arjona and, therefore, ordered **a new trial**. The state now **argues** to this **Court** that *Neil*, should be limited only to racial discrimination and even if it were extended to ethnic discrimination, Hispanics **are** not **a** cognizable class. Finally, the state argues even if *Neil*, should apply, the Third District Court of Appeal erred in concluding that the state wrongfully excluded Juror Arjona. It is respondent's position that the Third District Court of Appeal correctly concluded that Neil should apply to ethnic discrimination;

¹It should be noted **that at** the **trial** when defense counsel objected to the wrongful exclusion of Hispanic people from the jury, the **state** never took the position that <u>Neil</u> did not apply **to** ethnic discrimination. Nor did the state take the position that Hispanics are not **a** cognizable group in **this** community.

Hispanics are a cognizable ethnic group; and the state wrongfully excluded juror Arjona.

I. Neil Should Be Extended To Prohibit Ethnic Discrimination In Jury Selection

In Neil, this Court, relying on opinions from the California and Massachusetts Supreme Courts, *People* v. *Wheeler*, 583 P.2d 748 (Cal. 1978), and *Commonwealth* v. *Soares*, 387 N.E.2d 499 (Mass. 1978) held that it was "time in Florida to hold that jurors should be selected on the basis of their individual characteristics and that they should not be subject to being rejected solely because of the color of their skin."

In Neil, the prospective jurors whom the state sought to exclude from jury service were black. This Court recognized that neither the California Supreme Court in *Wheeler*, supra nor the Massachusetts Supreme Court in Soares, *supra* limited their opinion's to racial discrimination; however, the court decided to limit the holding in *Neil*, to racial discrimination. The court did state however, that "the applicability to other groups will be left open and will be determined as such cases arise." *State v.* Neil, 453 at 487. It is respondent's position that *Neil* should be extended *to* preclude ethnic discrimination in jury selection.

Both racial and ethnic discrimination violate Article I, Sections 2, 9, 16, 21, 22 of the Florida Constitution, and the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments to the United States Constitution. In *State v. Slappy*, 522 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1988), the **court recognized** that constitutional prohibitions against discrimination restrict **the** scope of the peremptory-challenge exercise.

An historical analysis of numerous United States Supreme Court cases supports the proposition that ethnic discrimination, just as racial discrimination, can not be tolerated by the courts of this state.

In Smith v. Texas, 311 U.S. 128, 61 S.Ct. 164, 165, 85 L.Ed. 84 (1940). Justice Hugo Black recognized the evils of racial discrimination in jury selection when he stated the following:

It is part of the established tradition in the use of juries as instruments of public justice that **the** jury be a body **truly repre**sentative of **the** community. For racial discrimination to result in the exclusion from jury service of otherwise qualified groups not only violates our Constitution and the laws **enacted** under it but is at war with our basic concepts of a democratic society and a representative government.

In Thiel v. Southern Pacific Co., 328 U.S. 217, 66 S.Ct. 984, 985-86, 90 L.Ed. 1181

(1946), the **United** States Supreme Court recognized that discrimination in jury selection is violative of **the** United States Constitution even when **the** discrimination is not racially motivated. In ruling that it was improper to eliminate daily wage earners from the jury pool, the United States Supreme court stated **the** following:

The American tradition of trial by jury, considered in connection with either criminal or civil proceedings, necessarily contemplates an impartial jury drawn from a cross-section of the community. Smith v. Texas, 311 U.S. 128, 130, 61 S.Ct. 164, 165 85 L.Ed. 84; Glasser v. United States, 315 U.S. 60, 85, 62 S.Ct. 457, 471, 86 L.Ed. 680. This does not mean, of course, that every jury must contain representatives of all the economic, social, religious, racial, political and geographical groups of the community; frequently such complete representation would be impossible. But it does mean that prospective jurors shall be selected by court officials without systematic and intentional exclusion of any of these groups. Recognition must be given to the fact that those eligible for jury service are to be found in every summer to society. Jury connectence is an individual failer than a group or class matter.. That fact lies at the very heart of the jury system. To disregard it is to open the door to class distinctions and discriminations which are abhorrent to the democratic ideals of trial by jury.

In Taylor *v. Louisiana*, 419 U.S. 522, 95 S.Ct. 692, 698, 42 L.Ed.2d 690 (1975), the issue before the United States Supreme Court was whether a male could object to the systematic exclusion of females from the jury venire. The Supreme Court once again recognized that:

[c]ommunity participation in **the** administration of the criminal law, moreover, is not only consistent with **our** democratic heritage but it is **also** critical **to** public confidence in the **fairness** of **the** criminal justice system. Restricting jury service to only special groups or excluding identifiable segments playing major roles in the community cannot be squared with the constitutional concept of jury trial.

If our judicial **system** excludes identifiable groups who play **a** major role in our society from participation in jury duty, then it is impossible for the public to **have** confidence in the system. The **same** rationale that prohibits **sex** discrimination prohibits ethnic discrimination. If **a** large segment of a population *can* be excluded from serving **cn a** jury based on ethnic background, it is impossible for that ethnic group, along with **all the** citizens in the community, to have confidence in our judicial system.

The United States Supreme Court case most on point as to whether discrimination other than racial discrimination is repugnant to our constitutions is Hernandez v. Texas, 347 U.S. 475, 74 S.Ct. 667, 671, 98 L.Ed.2d 866 (1954). In Hernandez v. Texas, the issue before the court was whether a Mexicen American could object to the systematic exclusion of Mexican Americans from the jury venire. In recognizing that discrimination in this country is unfortunately not only limited to racial discrimination, the United States Supreme Court stated the following:

... prejudices **are** not static, and from **time** to **time** other differences from the community norm may define other groups which need the **Same** protection [**as** that afforded to blacks] ... When the existence of **a** distinct class of is demonstrated, **and** it is further shown that the **laws**, **as** written or **as** applied, single out **that** class for different treatment not based on some reasonable classification, the guarantees of the Constitution have been violated. <u>The</u> Fourteenth Amendment is not directed solely **against** discrimination due to **a "two-class theory"**...that is. based **upon differences** between "white" and Negro.

As the state properly concedes, the United States Supreme Court in Hernandez v. New York, __U.S.__, 111S.Ct. 1859, 114 L.Ed.2d 395 (1991) has once again recognized that it is a violation of the equal protection clause to exclude a juror based on their ethnic background.

A review of **all** the above cited United **States** Supreme Court **cases** establishes one theme that exists in all of the **cases**. It is apparent that our Supreme Court has recognized that

peremptory challenges cannot be used to exclude individuals based upon their race, ethnic background or sex.

As further support for the position that ethnic discrimination is just as improper as racial discrimination, defendant would rely on the rationale of the California Supreme Court in *Trevino v. State*, 704 P.2d 719 (Cal. 1983), a decision cited with approval in *Slappy*.² In *Trevino*, the California Supreme Court was presented with the same issue that is before this Court. In that case, the court held that a defendant could object to the wrongful exclusion of Hispanics from the jury. In recognizing that ethnic discrimination is just as reprehensible as racial discrimination, the California Supreme Court stated:

The bulk of the **case** law analyzing representative **cross-section** claims involves discrimination against **a** cognizable class defined by race or sex. (See, e.g., Duren v. State of Missouri, (1979), 439 U.S. 357, 99 S.Ct. 664, 58 L.Ed.2d 579 (women); Taylor, supra, 419 U.S. 522, 95 S.Ct. 692, 42 L.Ed.2d 690 (women); Wheeler, supra, 22 Cal.3d 258, 148 Cal.Rptr. 890,583 P.2d 748 (Blacks); Johnson, supra, 22 Cal.3d 296, 148 Cal.Rptr. 915,583 P.2d 774 (Blacks); Hall, supra, 35 Cal.3d 161, 197 Cal.Rptr. 71, 672 P.2d 854 (Blacks).) This type of discrimination, based on physical attributes, often is more easily isolated then ethnic discrimination, which may turn on some nonphysical characteristic such as a name, an accent or a style of dress, Nonetheless. these more subtle forms of ethnic discrimination are no less reprehensible than the most overt race or sex discrimination.

The most compelling evidence to establish that this Court is ready to expand the holding in *Neil* to eliminate ethnic discrimination is **the report** of **the** Racial and Ethnic Bias Study Commission. On December 11, 1989, then Chief Justice Raymond Ehrlich issued an order

²In accord with *Trevino*, numerous federal and state courts have already held that ethnic discrimination is prohibited in jury selection. *See United States v. Giraldo*, 905 F.2d 38 (2d Cir. 1990; *United States v. Alvarado*, 891 F.2d 439 (2d Cir. 1989); *United States v. Chinchilla*, 874 F.2d 695 (9th Cir. 1989); *United States v. Alcanter*, 832 F.2d 1175 (9th Cir. 1987); *Fields v. People*, 732 P.2d 1145 (Colo. 1987); *State v. Gonzalez*, 538 A.2d 210 (Conn. 1988); State v. *Cantu*, 750 P.2d 591 (Utah 1988); *State v. Reyes*, 788 P.2d 1234 (Ariz.App. 1989); *People v. Reyes*, 542 N.Y.S. 178 (S.Ct. 1989); People v. Trevino, 704 P.2d 719 (Cal. 1985); *Atuesta v. Texas*, 788 S.W.2d 382 (Tex. App. 1990); *State v. Paz*, 789 P.2d 1 (Idaho 1990).

which created the Racial and Ethnic Bias **Study** Commission, to study the effects of racial and ethnic discrimination in our judicial system. His order recognized that Florida's judicial system is "founded upon the fundamental principle of the fair and equal application of the rule of law for all." The central recommendation made by the commission was that the judicial system **must** be more cognizant of racial and ethnic issues and that there must be a concerted effort to increase the number of African Americans and Hispanics in all phases of the judicial system from the police department to the Florida Supreme Court.

The Florida Commission on Racial and Ethnic Discrimination in its initial report correctly recognized the following:

[D]iversity **speaks** to the very essence of justice and democracy. The **tapestry** of **Florida's** population is a colorful blend of many different cultures and racial groups, held intact by **a** code of both written and unwritten laws **and** legal principles. Inclusion of minorities in the work force of Florida's judicial system is vital to the goal of keeping the fabric of our society together. The State simply cannot expect continued acceptance of a judicial system in which minorities are virtually invisible in positions of decisionmaking and responsibility,

If this **Court wants** to ensure that **African** Americans **and** Hispanics have **a** greater input into our judicial system, the first place **to start** is the jury system which is the cornerstone of our judicial system. The majority of American citizens **only** come in contact with the judicial system **as** potential jurors. Therefore, the first and most important place to increase minority participation is **the** jury **system**.

Neil endeavored to eliminate discrimination in our judicial **system** by eliminating impermissible bias in jury selection, The first **step** in **this effort** was to eliminate racial bias, The next **step** is to eliminate, ethnic discrimination ,

II. Hispanics A Cognizable Ethnic Group

If this Court concludes that **Neil**, applies to ethnic discrimination, the next question which must be decided is whether Hispanics are **a** cognizable ethnic group in this community. Since

Batson v. Kentucky, 476 U.S. 79, 106 S.Ct. 1712, 90 L.Ed.2d 69 (1986), numerous federal and state courts have recognized that Hispanics are a cognizable ethnic group. See Hernandez v. New York, supra; United States v. Giraldo, 905 F.2d 38 (2d Cir. 1990); United States v. Alvarado, 891 F.2d 439 (2d Cir. 1989); United States v. chinchilla, 874 F.2d 695 (9th Cir. 1989) United States v. Alcanter, 832 F.2d 1175 (9th Cir. 1987); Fields v. People, 732 P.2d 1145 (Colo. 1987) State v. Gonzalez, 538 A.2d 210 (Conn. 1988); State v. Cantu, 750 P.2d 591 (Utah 1988); State v. Reyes, 788 P.2d 1234 (Ariz. App 1989); People v. Reyes, 542 N.Y.S. 178 (N.Y. 1989); People v. Trevino, 704 P.2d 719 (Cal. 1985); Atuesta v. Texas, 788 S.W.2d 382 (Ct. of App. Tex. 1990); State v. Paz, 789 P.2d 1 (Idaho 1990).

The United States Supreme Court in *Hernandez v. Texas, supra*, recognized that one way of determining whether **a** group is a cognizable group is by showing **the** attitude of the community. The Florida Legislature has recognized that Hispanics are **a** cognizable group in this community as evidenced by the preamble to House Bill No. 1212, Florida Session Laws 77-233, which created the Florida State Commission on Hispanic Affairs, Section 14.25(1), Florida Statutes:

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